Berks. Archaeological Journal, Vol. 64.
Printed in Great Britain

THE FAMILY OF DE STALLIS AT WALLINGFORD
IN THE THIRTEENTH CENTURY ‘

N. M. HERBERT

HE year 1155 when Henry II granted a
charter of liberties to the men of Walling-

ford ‘in consideration of the service and great
labour which they bore’ in support of his
cause during Stephen’s reign, was regarded by
later inhabitants of the borough as the most
important date in their history. One burgess
writing a short history of the town in the early
16th century found a source of pride in the
antiquity of the grant while mistakenly credit-
ing it with the inauguration of that embodiment
of borough self-consciousness, the office of
mayor:

Henry the 2 granted the Charter for the first

Maioraltie of Wallingford in 1155. Soe the

Maioraltie of Wallingford was before

London 35 yeres.!
The charter gave the burgesses a measure of
freedom from the control of the king’s reeve,
and important economic advantages, as well as
confirming by a covering clause a mass of
accumulated custom.? The charter also im-
plied, or a subsidiary grant gave, the right to
farm the royal revenues from the borough, and
‘the men of Wallingford’ accounted for the
farm at the Exchequer in 1157;3 by 1180, and
probably earlier, Wallingford had that other
requisite for a borough’s advance to self-
government, reeves who were men of the town
and perhaps were already being elected by the
townspeople.* Nevertheless the grant of the
charter proved to be merely the beginning of
a period of uncertainty when neither the
borough’s much-prized liberties nor its econo-
mic position were at all secure.

Continual failure by the burgesses to meet
the annual fee-farm led ¢. 1164 to its reduction
from £80 to £40,% and in 1205 when the debt
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owed to the Exchequer for past arrears had
risen to £700, to the taking of the borough into
the king’s hands to be farmed by the sheriff of
the county.® The economic instability indicated
by the history of the farm in the later 12th and
early 13th centuries was further reflected in the
strenuous efforts of the townspeople to prevent
encroachment on their trading area by rival
markets at Abingdon? and Crowmarsh Gifford.8
Efforts were made by King John to boost the
trade of the town: he granted it a fair in 1203,?
and in 1207 money was allowed out of the fee-
farm revenues to repair shops in the market-
place and in 1214 for building others there.10
The town remained in the king’s hands until
the early years of Henry IIL. In 1219 the
burgesses secured a confirmation of the 1155
charter, and two reeves of Wallingford, by
now almost certainly annually elected by the
townspeople, were mentioned in 1220;
and by 1225 the burgesses were once
more farming the town.! In 1232 Henry
ITI granted the borough to his brother,
Richard, Earl of Cornwall, who already held
the castle and honor of Wallingford,!2 and in
the period of the earl’s lordship, until his
death in 1272, Wallingford experienced reason-
able prosperity—at least there was no difficulty
with payment of the farm—and, except
possibly during the upheavals of the early
1260’s,13 unchallenged enjoyment of its liber-
ties. This period roughly coincided with the
adult lives of three brothers who were among
the more important burgesses of the time,
Nicholas, Alexander, and Stephen de Stallis.14

The father of the three men was Robert de
Stallis who was alternatively called ‘Robert,
son of William’,!® which suggests that he was
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the first of the family to bear the nickname
‘of the stalls’; it may have originated from his
tenure of stalls in the market-place or from his
ownership of a house near the market stalls.
Robert was evidently a burgess of some
standing, and from 1218 to 1220 he was one of
the king’s overseers of the extensive repairs
and improvements then in progress at Walling-
ford castle.1
Nicholas de Stallis was presumably Robert’s
eldest son describing himself in a case in the
borough court in 1252 as Robert’s heir. He
was then disputing the ownership of three
shops in the town with the Abbot of Reading;
the abbot evidently based his claim on a grant
from Richard the chaplain of Theale of land
and appurtenances in Wallingford,’” while
Nicholas claimed the property by descent
from the same Richard. The case was initiated
in the borough court in December, 1251 by a
writ of right from the king in Nicholas’s
favour, and at the beginning of February,
1252 Nicholas made his plea against his
powerful opponent, but the abbot claimed he
could not be impleaded in any court but the
king’s. The case dragged on until at least the
end of May, Nicholas demanding that the
abbot show warrant for his freedom from the
court’s jurisdiction, and the abbot’s attorneys
producing both a charter of Richard I and a
charter of ‘King Henry’. The court finally
overruled the abbot’s objection and a ‘view’
of the property was granted.® Any subsequent
developments in the case are lost, but a settle-
ment had apparently been arrived at c. 1258
when Nicholas quitclaimed his right in one of
the shops to the abbey.!? Other property in the
town belonging to Nicholas was mentioned in
an agreement of ¢. 1258 by which the mayor
and gildsmen of Wallingford lent Nicholas
60s. and he as security for repayment mortgaged
to them:
one shop which lies between the shops of
Alexander de Stallis and John Robechild,
with 6d. rent which he used to receive from
the said shop of John Robechild in the high
road, and with all the right which he had or
was entitled to have in Simon Rokeby’s
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house, and 18d. rent of assize which Eustace,

son of Clement, used to pay Nicholas from

the houses of Richard of Colchester and

Richard, son of Henry, . . .20
A house in the parish of St. Martin owned by
Nicholas was mentioned ¢. 1232 when he
granted it away for one mark (13s. 4d.) and an
annual rent of 35.2! From 1228 his property in
the borough owed a total of 4s. in chief rents—
the original burgage rents owed to the lord of
the borough which formed part of the fee-
farm revenue.?

The shops mentioned at Wallingford in this
period mostly stood in the market area,
apparently then a broad open space—of
which the Market Place and St. Leonard’s
Square are surviving parts—dividing the town
south of the High Street.2 The three disputed
by Nicholas and the Abbot of Reading were
almost certainly there, being described as ‘in
the parish of St. Mary’. The shops, which
served both as workshops and selling-booths,
were often the ground-floor rooms of houses
overlooking the market area; in 1272 the lessees
of a house opposite the corn-market, then held
in the south of the area within St. Lucian’s
parish, were allowed to make doors and win-
dows looking onto the street from which to sell
their merchandise.25 Other shops were detached
buildings; one mentioned c. 1232 stood on the
north-east of the market area inside the church-
yard of the church of St. Mary-the-Less,
which was sometimes called ‘St. Mary-of-the-
Stalls’ from the use made of its churchyard
at market times.26 Other shops near the church
were occupied by the sellers of fish.?” Six or
seven shops built beneath the raised gildhall,
which then stood in the centre of the market
area south of St. Mary-le-More church,
probably also existed at this period,? although
they were not recorded before 1307 when
they figured in an accusation of corruption
levelled at one of the borough reeves; a jury
of the town reported to the justices-in-eyre
in that year that:

William of Donrugge killed Thomas of

Ilsley in Roger of Blewbury’s house at

- Wallingford and directly afterwards he
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fled . . . and he had goods and chattels
worth 5 marks in a certain shop beneath
the gild-hall in that town. And John Mariot
then a reeve of the town marked the door of
the shop with a seal, and afterwards entered
the gild-hall and ripped up a plank from its
floor, lying above the shop, and entered
the shop and carried away a portion of the
goods and chattels worth 4os. . . .29
Nicholas de Stallis, like most of the more
important burgesses, also owned agricultural
land outside the borough; in 1241 he had 12 a.
in the fields of Newnham Murren across the
river.30 Although the majority of the burgesses
lived by trade, husbandry played a fairly
important part in the life of the town which
had its open fields and common meadows and
pastures. Nicholas, who almost certainly fol-
lowed a trade, supplemented his income by the
sale of produce from his land, and on one
occasion ¢. 1230 he became involved in a law-
suit in the borough court with his brother,
Stephen de Stallis, over the ownership of some
corn:
Nicholas de Stallis shows that he sowed an
acre and a half with corn, and when he
wished to get his corn in he could not find it.
He made inquiry after it and discovered it in
Stephen’s yard. He showed this to the
reeves and before them and other worthy
men made recognition of the corn. And when
Nicholas sent two men, Richard and Henry,
to collect the corn Stephen cursed them . . .
Nicholas’s servants evidently succeeded in
recovering the corn, but Stephen continued to
claim it as his, complaining at the same
session of the court that one of the servants:
carried away his corn to sell it in the market
of the lord king in despite of the same
Stephen and without leave of the reeves
31

Stephen also owned lands in the fields of
Newnham and in the late 1260’s granted 2} a.
there to the Hospital of St. John the Baptist,
Wallingford ;3 if the land of both brothers
there had been inherited from their father,
their strips may have lain intermingled and the
dispute have arisen from the confusion over
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boundaries which often occurred among holders
of land in open fields. In another case in the
court Nicholas de Stallis impleaded another
burgess for breaking an agreement about ‘a
ploughing day’ (dée arura), perhaps a compact
to plough their strips jointly.33 *

Nicholas’s brother, Alexander de Stallis, on
the evidence of the surviving rolls of chief
rents, steadily increased his property in the
town. In the year ending at Michaelmas, 1229
he paid only 1s. rent, in 1235 2s. 1d., in 1244
5s. 8d., and for a year in the 1250’s 6s. 4d.
One of these acquisitions, made before 1243,
was a property earlier held by Richard, son of
Henry, carrying a rent of 1s. 2d.;3 the rent
presumably represented the four shops in the
town about which Richard’s son William
impleaded Alexander before the eyre of 1248,
when a jury of burgesses found in Alexander’s
favour.?® In another case before the same eyre
Alexander unsuccessfully claimed three years
arrears in a rent of 35.3% At an earlier eyre, in
1241, John the metalworker claimed to have
been disseised by Alexander and another
burgess of 5s. rent from a house in the town,
but was found to have never been in seisin.3?

About 1266 Alexander made a grant of 2s,
rent, arising from a house in St. Martin’s
parish and another in St. Leonard’s parish, to
found a charity in the Hospital of St. John the
Baptist which stood outside the south gate of
the town. The hospital had a close connection
with the town and its inhabitants: grants of
property made to it and leases made by the
master and brethren of the hospital were
usually witnessed by the mayor and leading
men,® and in 1353, in the course of a dispute
with Edward, Prince of Wales, then lord of the
borough, the burgesses claimed the patronage
and the right to make a visitation of the house
once a year.3® Alexander’s grant stated:

I, Alexander de Stallis, for the health of my

soul and for the souls of my ancestors and

descendants, by this charter give, concede,
and confirm to the brothers and sisters of
the Hospital of St. John the Baptist, Walling-

ford, in perpetual alms, 2s. annual rent . . .

that they may, after my death, on my
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‘birthday, distribute 84. worth of bread, 84.
worth of ale, and 8d. worth of relish (com-
ponagio) amongst the paupers living in the
hospital 40

At one time Alexander owned property
outside the borough, described as ‘the land of
Acgrave’. He granted it for 54 marks, which
suggests a fairly large acreage, to Adam de
Heriz; subsequently Adam’s title to the land
was challenged and he called Alexander to
‘warrant’—give evidence in support of his
claim—and as security for performance of the
warranty Alexander pledged ‘all the lands, rents,
and possessions which he has in the town of
Wallingford and outside it.’#!

In 1273 shortly after Alexander’s death his
property in Wallingford was disputed between
his widow Alice and his son Thomas. Thomas
impleaded Alice in the borough court, claiming
from her his father’s ‘chief house’ and also 20
charters, presumably the title deeds to Alexan-
der’s property. In the matter of the charters
Alice refused to make her defence in the
required manner and the court judged that
Thomas should take possession of them.
The chief house was claimed by Alice under the
custom of ‘free bench’ by which a widow held
the whole or part of her late husband’s property
until her death or re-marriage. In attempting
to prove her claim, however, she involved
herself in another plea. Eustace Clement and
11 other burgesses complained that they had
been summoned before the royal justices at
Westminster to give evidence on oath as to
whether ‘Alice held the house of her late
husband, Alexander de Stallis, by virtue of free
bench or by her husband’s will.” Annoyed at
being burdened with the journey:

they went and met Alice in St. Martin’s

church, and she said that she had not con-

strained them to appear before the justices
.- on that day, and she swore to this to Eustace
and the other worthy men.4? But in spite of
this Alice caused them to be .summoned
before the Bench, and because of the un-
- certainty among them the jury of twelve
stayed at home, for which default they were
all -placed in mercy before the justices . . .

However, a week later a settlement was made
between Alice and the indignant jury; she
agreed to pay them damages if they were fined
for their default. At the same court Alice and
Thomas agreed to submit their dispute to the
judgemdht of a jury of burgesses, and the next
week a final agreement between them was
witnessed by the court, under which:
the chief house in the parish of Holy Trinity
in Wallingford where Alexander de Stallis
used to live, with its surrounding close and
buildings, gardens, and yards, will remain
fully in (Alice’s) free bench for her dowry in
the borough while she lives without any
contradiction by Thomas. And all rents paid
from the other thresholds and hearths in the
borough, which belonged to Alexander on
the day of his death, shall remain to Thomas
by right of heredity without any reclamation
or challenge by Alice.*3
The chief house was almost certainly that,
mentioned in 1281 as formerly Alexander’s,
standing in Canescroft (now Kine Croft), the
common pasture on the west of the town where
the fairs were held;#* Holy Trinity was the
parish of the church of Wallingford Priory
which stood north of Canescroft on the other
side of the High Street. Alexander’s was evi-
dently one of the larger houses in the town
standing detached in a close and with a number
of outbuildings; a grange belonging to it was
mentioned in 1284.45 No detailed description
of a house of this period has been found, but a
fisherman’s house mentioned in 1369, com-
prising a hall, chamber, kitchen, and shop, was
probably typical of those lining the streets of
the medieval town.4® The fact that one burgess
was known as ‘John of the stone house’ in 1275
suggests that most were of timber.#” By this
time some at least had tiled roofs; tiles brought
from Nettlebed were mentioned ¢. 1230,% and
a tiler was living in the borough in 1267.49
The third brother, Stephen de Stallis, -was
living in a house in the parish of St. Peter in
the east of the town in 1272;50 it was probably
the one in that parish owing rents of 2s. to the
fee-farm and 3s. 1d. to Wallingford Priory
which Robert Freeman granted away in 1294,
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stating that he had acquired it ‘by the gift of
Stephen de Stallis’.5! A brawl in which Stephen
was involved in 1237 presumably resulted
from his failure to pay the rent owed to the
priory; he complained that:

Hugh of the Sacristy (earlier called ‘Hugh of

the Priory’) came onto his tenement and

tried to distrain upon him, and afterwards

came into the street and man-handled and

beat him and tore his gown . . .52
Hugh evidently cleared himself of Stephen’s
accusations for it was Stephen who was fined
as a result of the plea.53 A settlement was fairly
soon made between Stephen and the monks
for a few weeks later the Prior of Wallingford
made Stephen his attorney to pay 10d. of the
rent from his house to the Bishop of Win-
chester.54

Another house owned by Stephen was des-
cribed as a corner house and stood near the
south gate of the town in St. Leonard’s parish;
he paid 1s. chief rent for it between 1229 and
1244.5% Before 1250 he granted it to Herbert
the ditcher (fosseur) for a rent of ss., but by c.
1255 it had reverted to Stephen5® who gave it
in 1267 or 1268 to St. John’s Hospital.5?
A third house, for which he also owed 1s. chief
rent from 1229,% was apparently lost by
Stephen before the eyre of 1248. Roger the
carpenter who with his wife Joan then im-
pleaded Stephen, claiming a house in the
borough and was awarded it by the court’s
verdict,%® was presumably the Roger of Oseney
who owed the rent in 1252 and later,80

As much information relating to the three
brothers appears in the surviving rolls of the
borough court as in the deeds and other
records concerning their property. The court
met on Thursdays usually each week and had
jurisdiction over a fairly wide variety of pleas,
including trespass, debt, covenant, and pleas of
land in certain cases, as well as being the forum
for most administrative business. The majority
of pleas heard by the court in the 13th century
were pleas of trespass—actions brought for an
injury to person or property. Many were of a
trivial nature arising from petty brawls or
arguments; a court held regularly and near at
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hand meant that legal action could be resorted
to with comparatively little cost or trouble.
At this period almost all pleas in the court
were dealt with by the process of compurgation.
A plaintiff, having succeeded by the process of
summons or distraint in making the defendant
appear, made his accusation and claimed
damages, producing as his ‘suit’ (sequela) friends
who would testify to the truth of the charge.
The defendant then made a formal denial and
was assigned a day on which to ‘make his law’
by finding a required number—usually six—
compurgators to support his denial on oath;
if he failed the court fined him and awarded
damages, and, if he succeeded he was allowed
to depart freely ‘without day’ and the plaintiff
fined for making a ‘false plea’.

Experience in pleading and a knowledge of
borough custom was necessary when bringing
an action in the court. A slip of the tongue
however trivial—even, as in a case in 1304,
getting an opponent’s Christian name wrong®
—or a mistake in the required form of words or
procedure could mean the failure of the plea or
defence and a fine by the court. A case in which
Alexander de Stallis accused Christine Geri of
raising the hue and cry ‘to the harm of his
tenement’ developed into an argument as to
whether Christine’s husband was still living in
which case he and not she should have been
summoned by Alexander to answer his charge. 62
Another plea, in 1232, reached deadlock, both
Alexander and his opponent raising technical
procedural points to justify their refusal to
reply: .

Robert de Ros impleads Alexander de Stallis

(saying) that Alexander insulted and injustly

treated him in the borough, whence he

would not have had the damage or disgrace
for 25. and then he produces his suit.

Alexander came and says that he need not

reply because he (Robert) did not name his

suit.

Alexander de Stallis impleads Robert de Ros

(saying) that a member of his household

insulted him and called him ‘thief’ and badly

treated him whence he would not have had
the damage or disgrace for 6s., and he pro-
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duces his suit. Robert says that he need not
reply without his wife as the plea concerns
her. Judgement is placed in respect . . .63
A case in 1272 in which Stephen de Stallis was
a party provides a good example of the full
formula of a plea, and his opponent’s defence,
of the required word for word (de verbo ad
verbum) refutation:
Stephen de Stallis impleads Eustace Clement
concerning the great force and injury which
he did to him in the peace of God, and of the
lord Edmund, son of the King of the Ger-
mans,® and of his reeves of the borough of
Wallingford who keep the peace in the town
of Wallingford, namely that on the Tuesday
next after the feast of the Blessed Mary in
March of the fifty-sixth year of the king’s
reign the same Eustace came to Stephen’s
house where he lives in the parish of St.
Peter-in-the-East and took from there a parti-
coloured tunic, made half of Flanders burrel
and half of camlet, and kept it from that Tues-
day until the Tuesday following, refusing to
accept gage or pledge for it, until it was
released by the reeves; and this to the
damage and disgrace of half a mark. And if he
wishes to confess this, that is well, but if not
he (Stephen) has sufficient witnesses—
William, etc.
Eustace Clement defends the force and
injury, the damage and disgrace to Stephen,
and the breaking of the peace of God and of
the lord Edmund and of his reeves who keep
the peace in Wallingford, and the half mark
65

Eustace went on to claim that he was not
liable to answer the charge—technically one of
vetitum namium®%—because of an omission in
Stephen’s plea.

Nicholas de Stallis must have possessed the
required knowledge of procedure and custom as
he acted as an attorney in three cases of which
record survives. At a court in the early 1230’s a
burgess made Nicholas and his brother Stephen
his attorneys to plead for him in a dispute over
some land with the Abbot of Thame,% and in
1266 the sacrist of Wallingford Priory appointed
Nicholas to act for him in recovering some
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rent that was being withheld by the Rector of
St. Leonard’s church.® In February, 1268,
Nicholas was received by the court as the
attorney of Nicholas the goldsmith in a long-
standing action for debt, which had been in
progress since at least November, 1265.%9
Nicholas de Stallis was evidently among the
more wealthy and influential burgesses. In
1235 he was one of the three borough alder-
men; his name headed the list of the inhabi-
tants of the ward for which he was respon-
sible on the record of the tallage taken in that
year for the Earl of Cornwall.?? In 1251 or 1252
Nicholas and Stephen de Stallis were among
four leading burgesses sent to Reading ‘to
seek the liberty of the town concerning the
mint before the lord William de Haxemue, the
king’s justice’”!; the Wallingford mint had been
one of those reconstituted in 1248 at the time of
Henry III’s recoinage.” Nicholas was acting
on the king’s business in 1240 when with
another burgess he was ordered to escort a
prisoner from Oxford to Windsor.™

In the 13th century the affairs of the borough
were conducted by a fairly small group of men,
who, although there is no evidence for any
formally constituted body before 1275,74 were
evidently the equivalent of the 12 or 24 leading
burgesses or ‘portmen’ of other towns; the
same names appear regularly as holders of the
chief borough offices and as witnesses to the
deeds of the period. Of 38 deeds, either con-
veyances of property between burgesses or
grants to the Hospital of St. John, which
survive for. the period ¢. 1230-¢. 1270, 34 were
witnessed by Alexander de Stallis, 28 by
Nicholas, and 8 by Stephen,”® and it was
undoubtedly Alexander who played the most
prominent part in the life of the town.

Alexander served as one of the two borough
reeves in the year beginning at Michaelmas,
1235. The reeves were the chief executive
officers of the borough and had a wide range
of duties most of them connected with the
borough court. As keepers of the king’s peace
or lord’s peace they were the embodiment of the
power of the court; in the usual wording of a
plea the plaintiff accused his opponent of
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committing an offence ‘in the peace of God and
of the reeves’. Any action required by the court,
such as summoning juries, keeping prisoners,
hearing recognitions of debt, collecting fines,
and distraining on defaulters, was the respon-
sibility of the reeves and their subordinates, the
serjeants. Naturally the execution of these
duties often led to unpopularity: ¢. 1230 it was
reported in the court that:
Alice, the wife of Richard Wrau, . . . refused
to give distress to the collectors and called
them ‘thieves’, and took up a stick and tried
to strike the two serjeants and closed the
door on them. And when the reeves came
and sought gage and pledge she raised the
hue . . .;78
and in 1311 the collectors of the levy for the
expenses of the borough’s members of Parlia-
ment had water poured over them.” The
reeves wielded considerable power and their
duties must have given them ample opportunity
for the abuse of their office, but very few
instances of corruption have in fact been
recorded. There were a number of factors which
limited their power, notably that any action by
them against an offender had to be taken in the
court and subject to the usual procedure; in an
action brought by one of the reeves in 1233 the
case was adjourned because he lacked ‘suit’,’®
presumably because the general opinion was
that the action was an unjust one. The reeves
could also be disciplined by the court; in 1312 a2
reeve was convicted before the mayor of
having released distrained goods before the
case had been brought to a judgement and
‘made no execution of justice in this plea’.??
An important part of the reeves’ office was
the assessment, collection, and payment of the
fee-farm. The revenues which made up the
farm came from four main sources—the chief
rents from the burgages, the fines levied by the
court, the toll taken at markets and fairs, and
the payments by the pactionarii, burgesses, and
‘foreigners’ from surrounding villages, paying
an annual sum for the right of trading in the
town and sharing in the gild privileges. The
rolls recording the payments of the pactionari8®
and the chief rents survive for Alexander’s year
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of office, and at the foot of the latter is Alexan-
der’s account of money paid out by him towards
the general running expenses of the borough.8!
These included: payment of the borough clerk
and for the parchment on which he wrote; the
cost of repairs to the town’s clucking-stool;
payments towards preparations for the coming
of the justices-in-eyre led by Robert de
Lexinton® for whom a court was apparently
improvised—Item. to William the carpenter
for repairing the seat in Peter the vintner’s
barn against the coming of the lord Robert de
Lexinton 24d’; the expenses of two journeys to
Berkhamstead (one of the Earl of Cornwall’s
chief castles)®® to pay instalments of the farm;
a payment to the serjeants of the market ‘at the
second coming of the lord king’,# probably as
at other royal visits to provide fodder for the
horses;85 63d. for a present for the Steward, the
official who from the castle administered the
honor of Wallingford for the Earl of Cornwall,
and 2s. for a present for the earl himself; and
payments to two of the town’s butchers for
sheep, presumably for borough feasts.3¢
Alexander was mayor of the borough in at
least six years—those beginning at Michaelmas,
1262,%7 1263,% 1267,% and in three other years
in the 1260’s or early 1270’s.90 The office, first
recorded in 1220,% was still a developing one.
The earliest references to the mayor show him
carrying out his chief function as the represen-
tative of the body of the townsfolk, the com-
munitas, and spokesman for their interests,
as in 1230-1 when he went to London to
put the town’s case in the market dispute with
Crowmarsh.%? Alexander as mayor represented
the town in a dispute with Robert de Luches
in 1264, which was settled when Robert pledged
half a mark to the mayor and community at
the west gate,% and the ‘Alexander the vintner’,
who in June, 1268, went to the royal palace at
Woodstock to pay a fine of 100s. for Henry III’s
confirmation of the 1155 charter,* was un-
doubtedly Alexander de Stallis acting in his
capacity of mayor and guardian of the chartered
liberties of the borough. The mayor also acted
as head of the gild, a position which he had
taken over before 1258 from the official known
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as alderman of the gild;®® Alexander appeared
in this capacity in 1268 when an admission to
the liberty of the town—which gave the right to
share in the trading privileges of the gild
without the annual payment as a pactionarius—
was made in the court:
Let it be remembered that William de
Camera and Juliana his wife were received
into the liberty of the town in return for
an annual rent of 1s., with the agreement
of Alexander de Stallis, then mayor, and of
the whole court.%
It was during Alexander’s tenure of the office
that the mayor was first mentioned acting in
another capacity, as a magistrate in the court.
In 1268 Alexander, with the reeves and others,
presided over a settlement of the long dispute
between Nicholas the goldsmith and Walter of
Hagbourne® (the same case in which Nicholas
de Stallis acted as an attorney). In 1275, after
Alexander’s death, the mayor was first men-
tioned in the prologue to a plea as one of the
keepers of the peace in the borough,® and by
the end of the century he was evidently acting
together with the borough aldermen as a
regular president of the court. The growth of
the office in power and authority, a process in
which Alexander must have played a part,
continued throughout the later medieval period;
an entry in the court roll for 1321 illustrated
the status the mayor had already by then
achieved:
Because Peter of Didcot was convicted by
the whole community of insulting Nicholas
de la Barre, the mayor, and slandering him
among worthy men by calling him ‘false
detractor’ and ‘thief’ in contempt of the
whole community, the same Peter came to
this court and pledged himself to the mayor
in 100s. It was further decided that anyone
of the community who was convicted three
times . . . of offending against this or any
other mayor should be deprived of his liberty
by the sound of the gild-hall bell.%®
In a private capacity Alexander appears in the
court rolls mainly as a creditor. In 1233 William
Irish mortgaged two houses in St. John’s
parish to Alexander as security for a loan of
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10s.; William evidently failed to make the first
repayment of the loan, fixed for 2nd February,
1234, for on 23rd of that month he was attached
to answer Alexander.®® In 1261 Alexander
accused Peter de Wika of detaining from him
<7s. 4d., which he recovered with damages when
Peter failed to make his defence ‘according to
the law’.101 In 1266 Alexander and his brother
Stephen brought an action against another
burgess for a debt of half a mark,'®® and in
1268 he and Richard of Brightwalton impleaded
Robert the tanner who was ordered to be dis-
trained ‘day by day’ until he gave them satis-
faction for a debt of 255,108

In the most interesting transaction in which
Alexander was involved he was the debtor,
owing a considerable sum to the Jew, Abraham
of Berkhamstead. Abraham was one of the
leading Jewish financiers of the time and some-
times acted for the king in his dealings with the
Jewish community.1® He was perhaps among
the king’s Jews at Berkhamstead whom Richard,
Earl of Cornwall, was allowed to move to
Wallingford in 1242,1% and in 1249 when
Abraham lost the royal favour—it was
rumoured that he had murdered his wife
when she refused to abet him in defiling an
image of the Virgin—he was apparently pro-
tected from the consequences by the earl.106
He was restored to favour in 1250,1%7 but later
the same year was charged with coin-clipping
and his goods forefeited to the king,%® who
later granted Abraham and his possessions to
the Earl of Cornwall. In 1255 the earl was given
permission to have a chirographer’s chest at
Wallingford, kept by two Christians and two
Jews, to hold all the documents relating to
Abraham’s debts,1%? and shortly afterwards an
order was issued to the sheriffs responsible for
27 counties to distrain the Jew’s many debtors
to make repayment within the next few weeks;
Alexander de Stallis of Wallingford figured
among the debtors owing £7 105110 It seems
unlikely that Alexander, living almost under the
eyes-of the earl and his receivers, escaped mak-
ing settlement of the debt.

The debt to Abraham had perhaps been
incurred in the course of Alexander’s trade as a
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vintner; in 1241, 1248, and 1261 he was pre-
sented at the eyre for breaking the assize of
wine. In 1241 he was also presented for break-
ing the assize of cloth,11! but the sale of wine
was evidently his main business; the reference
to his payment of the fine for the confirmation
of the borough charter shows that it was by his
trade as a vintner that he was known to the
royal officials. The vintners were one of the
leading groups of tradesmen in thirteenth-
century Wallingford; two others besides Alex-
ander became mayor of the borough and a
number held other offices. The earliest men-
tioned was Hugh the vintner in 1201, who was
probably the same recorded in the Berkshire
section of the pipe roll from 1202 paying off a
debt incurred to a wealthy merchant of
Southampton,!? and in 1226 Peter the vintner,
who was Hugh’s son or heir,!!3 had permission
to sell all the red wine he bought at Southamp-
ton and took to Wallingford for 10d. a sester.
Peter was to continue to sell the wine he bought
at London at 8d. a sester, the assize fixed for
Wallingford among other inland towns in
1223.114 In 1229 the 10d. assize was extended to
all the Wallingford vintners on all the wine they
sold.115 Nevertheless Alexander, like most
medieval victuallers, found it more profitable
to charge a still higher price and meet the
resulting fines from the profits.

One or more of the shops in the borough
owned by Alexander, mentioned in 1248 and
¢. 1258,118 were presumably used for the sale
of his wine, and in the early 1230’s he also
had a pitch for a stall at the market of Crow-
marsh Gifford across the river; he claimed in
the borough court that another burgess:

came to the market at Crowmarsh and took

his place, and called Robert, his man, ‘thief’

and said that he ought to be hanged as

Nigel of Berkhamstead was at ‘Deerstone’

17
It is surprising to find a leading burgess of
Wallingford selling in the same market, which
was then being so bitterly opposed by the
borough. The dispute over the right of the
men of Crowmarsh to hold a market had been
in progress before 1155, when the charter
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contained a clause prohibiting it,'® and a
renewal of the dispute led to a further royal
prohibition in 1214.1'® The main issue at the
time of the second prohibition was whether
the inhabitants of Crowmarsh had the right to
sell bread and ale, and the burgesses later
claimed that justices sent to enforce the pro-
hibition had caused the ovens used for baking
in the village to be destroyed, the vessels for
brewing carried off, and the tumbrel—used for
the punishment of offenders against the
assize of ale—cast down. In 1228 the dispute
led to an action in the king’s court which was
not brought to a conclusion, with a decision
in favour of the burgesses, until 1234.120
Alexander’s brother Stephen played a less
important part in the life of the town; he was,
however, a fairly wealthy burgess and, like
Alexander, was assessed at 1os. for the tallage
of 1235, among the 14 highest assessments.!?!
He also held office as one of the two borough
coroners, a position of considerable responsi-
bility with its duties of holding inquests on
corpses, hearing abjurations of the realm by
felons in sanctuary—this a comparatively
frequent task in a small town with 11 churches
122__hearing appeals of felony, and pronounc-
ing outlawries, as well as attaching suspects
and witnesses and keeping an adequate record
of all the cases against the coming of the eyre
justices. Stephen and his colleague were
apparently elected to the office at the eyre of
1235; on the roll of the crown pleas for the
borough at the eyre of 1241 they were named
as the coroners ‘after the last eyre’.1?® The pre-
sentments in 1241 included: three inquests on
men drowned in the Thames—the most
common form of accidental death in thirteenth-
century Wallingford; three appeals of robbery
(one by Alexander de Stallis); and the record
of an abjuration of the realm by a thief in the
chapel of St. John’s Hospital, after his two
associates had been taken with the stolen
goods and, in accordance with the borough
privilege, hanged by sentence of the borough
court.1? Stephen and his colleague apparently
escaped any of the fines which the justices
often imposed on the coroners for lapses of



THE FAMILY OF DE STALLIS AT WALLINGFORD IN THE 13tH CENTURY

detail in their records or mistakes in procedure,
but the jury of burgesses was fined for present-
ing the wrong ‘first finder’ of a corpse, and the
whole town was indicted for failure to capture
the felon who gained sanctuary.

The tenure of an office or position of respon-
sibility in the borough did not apparently
carry with it the sense of dignity that it would
in a later age. Even leading burgesses figured in
the street brawls which provided much of the
subject matter of pleas in the court and reflect
something of the claustrophobic quality of
life in a small medieval town; everyone knew
everyone else and most of their affairs, out of
necessity as much as curiosity, for every man
needed the frequent help of his neighbours to
act as pledges, suit, essoinators, or com-
purgators. In the case of Stephen de Stallis,
however, the surviving records give the
impression of a particularly quarrelsome and
litigious man prone to making enemies. His
public altercations with the servants of his
brother Nicholas and with Hugh of the Sac-
risty were mentioned above; in a case in 1231
Stephen complained that Osbert the baker
‘insulted him and called him ‘dog’ and badly
treated him . . ’, and later in the same year,
that Henry de Porta ‘came into the highway
in front of his door and beat his servant . . . and
called him (Stephen) ‘thief’ . . ."25 Court rolls
survive for about one seventh of the period c.
1230-1272 and estreat rolls for six full years
and parts of three others; in them Stephen was
recorded as a party to 26 separate cases. In one
case he made the liberties of the town the basis
of his plea when the action of his opponent
who ‘went into the castle and made a plea with
the Steward’ threatened the jurisdiction of the
borough court.126

No record of the trade followed by Stephen
has survived. None of the three brothers
appear on the surviving rolls of pactionarii
(which list the payers by trades); all were
evidently wealthy enough to pay for admission
to the freedom of the town which gave im-
munity from the annual payment for gild
membership. A grant of ¢. 1230 by which
Stephen gave an annual rent of 1s. to the alder-
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man and gild may have been for his freedom
although this was not specified;1#? the assign-
ment of an annual rent from property in the
town was the usual method of payment for the
freedom at this time. Stephen planned that one
of his sons should become a goldsmith by
trade, and apprenticed him in 1251 to Ralph
the goldsmith. Ralph had been appointed one
of the assayers of the Wallingford mint in
1248,1% and was one of five or six burgesses
recorded as following the trade in the mid-13th
century; one of the group, Nicholas the gold-
smith, was mayor of the borough for a number
of years. The apprenticeship of Stephen’s son
to the trade was, however, short-lived:
Ralph the goldsmith impleads Stephen de
Stallis about a certain agreement made
between them on the feast of St. Mary in
March of last year. It was in this form:
Ralph took Robert, Stephen’s son, for a
period of six years to teach him the goldsmith’s
craft; meanwhile he (Ralph) was to receive
10s. each year, paid at four terms, to cover his
keep and tuition, and a quarter of wheat to be
paid at Christmas, and an acre of land to be
ploughed, left fallow, reploughed and pre-
pared for sowing at Stephen’s cost. When the
first term for the payment of the 1os. came
round Ralph went and demanded payment;
he went at the second term, the third, the
fourth, but Stephen paid him nothing.
Then Stephen took his son away to the
damage and shame to Ralph of 20s. . . 129
Alexander de Stallis died in 1272 or 1273;130
Stephen was last mentioned in 1272,131 and
Nicholas was dead by 1274 when his widow
Julia was mentioned.’® Few references
have been found to the next generation of the
family and nobody of the name later played a
part of any importance in the town. Nicholas’s
son Nicholas was mentioned in 1274133 but not
later, and no later record has been found of two
sons of Stephen, Robert and Nicholas, men-
tioned in his lifetime 13 William de Stallis, the
chaplain, who in 1294 was living in the house
next to that formerly occupied by Stephen,3%
was mentioned several times until 1312 when a
grant of three cottages by him was witnessed
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in the court.13® Thomas de Stallis, Alexander’s
son, the party to the dispute over Alexander’s
chief house in 1273, was mentioned in the year
before when he made an agreement to lend
another burgess 6 marks,'3? and he was perhaps
the ‘Thomas, son of Alexander’ who was
accused in 1268 of having been associated
with an adherent of Simon de Montfort in the
recent rebellion.’®® Thomas was evidently
dead by 1284 when his daughters, Agnes and
Julia, had the reversionary right to Alexander’s
chief house and impleaded Alice de Stallis,
Alexander’s widow, for committing waste in
part of the property. It was perhaps a mark of
the position which the most successful of the
de Stallis family gained in the borough that in
this case eleven years after his death he
referred to simply as ‘Alexander of
Wallingford®,139
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